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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE N

St. Andrew's Episcopal Church was constructed in 1887 in the
Gothic Revival style. The overall dimensions of the building are
67 by 91 feet and the plan is rectangular with a side belltower and
polygonal transepts at the apsidal end. The church is of brick
construction, laid in running bond, on a tabby foundation. The
building has brick bearing walls, angle buttresses and exposed hammer
beam roof trusses. Entrance to the church is gained through the
belltower vestibule into the narthex on the east side or directly
into the narthex through a pair of double doors with an equilateral
tympanum of mahogany with carved trefoil and quatrefoil motifs in the
panels. In addition, the entrance leading directly into the narthex
is gabled with pinnacles on either side. There are unglazed arched
openings on the north and east sides of the tower and a lancet window
on the south side above the entrance at the base of the tower.
Flanking the narthex entry are a pair of lancet windows with a polyfoil
rose window above. All window surrounds are masonry. The belltower,
which is the focal point of the structure, rises to a height of
120 feet and is of dominating vertical proportions and irregular
massing. All openings into it are asymmetrical, the angle buttresses
have stone weatherings and there is an octagonal bay abutting it.
There are quatrefoil motifs in the lozenges and triangular openlngs
in the steeple. Between belltower and steeple is a gabled cornice
with lancet niches. The roof is slate and there is a Celtic cross
at the peak of the steeple. The body of the church is covered with
a gable roof with an intermediate clerestory. The roof covering is
slate with polychrome slate connecting lozenges. There is masonry
fascia at all eaves. The term masonry is used because all of the
trim is either sandstone or concrete imitating the texture of
sandstones - .- R -

.The .interior floorplan consists of a rectangle with parallel
pews, a center aisle and a vestry and sacristy to the rear of
the chancel. There is a stair in the area to the right of the
chancel which apparently gave former access to the organ. The
stair in the belltower no longer exists. Ceramic and terra cotta
tiles provide the flooring material for the tower vestibule and the
rest of the flooring is wood. Interior finish is wood panelled
wainscoting below the windows with plaster above. The ceiling is
plastered with exposed dark wood hammer beam trusses. There are
luminous globe lamps suspended from the trusses.

As well as can be established either by this researcher or by
the Historic American Building Survey, alterations to the building
have been minimal. The building occupies a large corner lot which
contains a number of large trees.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

At the time that St. Andrew's was constructed in 1887, Robert S.
Schuyler had already established himself as an experienced designer

of churches.

In addition to three carpenter Gothic chapels in Waldo,

Fairbanks and Lake Santa Fe, Florida, Schuyler achieved a great degree
of recognition with his 1881 design for St. Peter's Church in
Fernandina Beach, Florida (Greer, "Fernandina Beach Historic District").

Schuyler came to Florida from New York in 1878.

He had received his

architectural training in New York City and during the Civil War, he
served as a Captain in the 13th Regiment, New York Cavalry (Webb,
He established his architectural practice in Fernandina
Beach in 1881 and worked there until his death on July 24, 1895. He
is buried in the St. Peter's Cemetery in Fernandina (Florida Times--

p. 180).

Union, July 25, 1895).

Schuyler was a particularly skillful designer,

not only of churches, but of residences and commercial buildings
(see Greer, "Fernandina Beach Historic District" for descriptions of
the Fairbanks and Tabby Houses, - Schuyler designs:..already -on the = - .:

National Register

When constru
most satisfying pieces of architecture in the South"

! -

of Historic Places).

étéd, St. Andrew's was regarded as "one of the
(Shinn, p.: 221).

A history of the church reveals that, "plans were perfected, contracts
were let, and the erection of the church which was to be a memorial
to the late Bishop John Freeman Young [see also Shinn, p. 22I] began

in 1887 with the laying of the féundation.
brick to be used in the building was delivered on June 13, 1887.
cornerstone was laid on August 11, 1887"

(Parsons, p. 4).

The first delivery of

The
The vestry

minutes note that "the committee on the New Church was authorized to

negotiate with Mr.

R. S. Schuyler of Fernandina"

(Pennington, p.

35).

According to Pennington, the property on which the building is
situated was a gift of J.C.N. Stockton (Pennington, p. 62) and Stockton
was, in fact, a junior warden and member of the building committee

for the new church (Parsons, p. 4).

The decision to build a more

substantial edifice came as a result of the parish becoming inde-
pendent in 1886 and the increase in the size of the congregation. .
In June of 1887, after the selection of the architect, the building
committee "abandoned the wish to build in stone because of the cost

and contracted with Mr.
p. 36).

T. N. Anderson for the brick"

(Pennington,

A contemporary newspaper account of the building stated that
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the red brick was set in black mortar, that the floor was tiled and
that the basement was outfitted with steam heat ("The New St. Andrew's,"
FT-U, August 12, 1887, p. 8). The church, excluding the property,

was to cost the congregation about $14,000 ("The New St. Andrew's").

The signiéficance of St. Andrew's Episcopal Church is threefold:
1) it is the only major house of worship predating the May, 1901
fire which destroyed virtually all of the city of Jacksonville;
2) it is the work of a master architect, Robert S. Schuyler; and
3) it employs some architecturally unique components such as an
asymmetrically massed belltower, polychrome slate roof with clerestory,
hammer beam trusses and tabby foundation. From the time of its
construction to the present day it has been considered to be of
regional architectural significance.
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